IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

 ${\bf RONALD\ VANDER\ BOND,\ JR.}$

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-2152-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS W. DANIEL HINCHCLIFF, MS BAR NO. 301 NORTH LAMAR STREET, SUITE 210 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 TELEPHONE: 601-576-4200

COUNSEL FOR RONALD VANDER BOND, JR.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONALD VANDER BOND, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-2152-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND/OR DEFENDANT'S TENDERED PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE EVIDENCE BEING INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE INTENT TO TRANSFER OR DISTRIBUTE.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHERE THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF POSSESSION OF METHAMPHETAMINE WITH THE INTENT TO TRANSFER OR DISTRIBUTE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, Mississippi, Roger T. Clark, Circuit Judge presiding, and a judgement of conviction for the crimes of possession of methamphetamine with the intent to distribute and possession of precursors as an habitual offender against Roland Vander Bond, Jr., following a jury trial commencing December 3, 2008. Mr. Bond was subsequently sentenced as an habitual criminal to a term of fifteen years on

each count, with the sentences to run concurrently. Roland Vander Bond, Jr., is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

Before trial, the defense, on behalf of Roland Vander Bond, Jr., ["Bond"], presented several motions in limine. The motions to bar the State from mentioning prior felonies, and to bar certain testimony relating to Rite-Aid were granted. The trial court deferred a ruling on Bond's prior exculpatory statement. (C.P. 46, T. 53-56) The State moved to amend the indictment to charge Bond as an habitual offender. (C.P. 48, T. 52) Though the convictions were on the same day, the court later ruled that the crimes were separate, occurring on different dates.

During jury selection, the defense noted that two of three State peremptory challenges were exercised on African-Americans, but ultimately, no *Batson* challenge was entered.

Kevin Brazil, ["Brazil"], an officer with the Long Beach Police Department, began the State's case in chief with his testimony concerning the execution of a search warrant of premises located at 20016 Merinda Lane, Long Beach, Mississippi. (T. 62-63) An objection to the warrant's listed occupant's was sustained, but an objection for lack of foundation to the officer's testimony as to who occupied the residence was over-ruled. Actual occupancy was central to the defense of this case. When the warrant was executed, it was conceded that Bond was not present. (T. 64, 81)

Brazil the described items recovered and the location. (T. 66-77) The recovered items included pseudophedrine, acetone, lithium batteries, baggies, empty "cold tablet" boxes (T. 74) and receipts that reflected various items used in the manufacture of methamphetamine. A checkbook was found with Bonds name on it as a joint account holder with Cynthia Young. (T. 77-78) The address on the account was 20016 Merinda Lane. Brazil also testified that a yehicle at the location was registered to Bond, while the registration on Bond's other vehicle also reflected the Merinda Lane

address. (T. 78-79)

The defense then cross examined Brazil who admitted that he last saw Bond at Merinda Lane a "couple of months before." (T. 82) He could not say who actually used the check book, and further acknowledged that nothing else with Bond's name was found at the residence. (T. 83) Almost two weeks after the execution of the search warrant, on October 23, Brazil returned Bond's sunglasses and a digital camera. (T.84) Re-direct showed these items to have been seized during the execution of the search warrant. (T. 87)

The next witness, Jimmy Green, Jr., was a narcotics investigator with the Multi-Jurisdictional Task Force. (T. 88) He buttressed the testimony of Brazil as to the recovery of a loose bag of pseudophedrine. Again, it was agreed that Bond was not present and that Green had seen nothing with Bon's name on it. (T. 97)

Erik Deitrick, ["Deitrick"], testified that Cindy Young lived at the house and that Bond "was also staying with her." (T. 101) According to Deitrick, Bond's truck contained Sudafed.

Detrick's cross examination continued to affirm that no officer had any direct knowledge that Bond actually continued to reside at the Merinda Lane residence. Accordingly, his direct testimony that Bond lived there was stricken. (T. 103)

The next witness's testimony was much the same. Jason Case found a modified salt cannister, but had no knowledge of Bond prior to the execution of the search warrant. (T. 109-113)

Allen Davis was qualified as an expert with knowledge of meth labs. He testified that the amount of methamphetaine found was, in his opinion, not for personal use, and that the scales found were typically used to weigh drugs for sale and distribution. Baggies were also recovered near the scales and the methamphetamine.(T. 114-123. He explained the operation of a meth lab and the ingredients and components, relating those things to the seized evidence. (T. 122-132) He could not

place the defendant at the scene, nor was he aware that any actual "cooking" had occurred. (T. 133-134)

Cynthia Young, ["Young"], was indicted with Bond. She lived at the residence on Merinda Lane. She claimed she lived there together with Bond. According to her testimony, the aforementioned checkbook was theirs. She claimed the methamphetamine was "ours" and that "we" purchased the precursors, referring to Bond. (T. 136-140) She told the prosecutor that she and Bond "share[d]" the methamphetamine. (T. 139) Share certainly does not imply distribute together, but to use together.

Young pled guilty in drug court to possession, not intent to distribute. She admitted she used meth and did so until completing rehab.(T. 142) The residence at Merinda Lane was her house. She claimed Bond was still living there in October, 2004, the time of the raid. She agreed that she was the only person who wrote checks on the checking account recovered at the raid.(T. 142-146) She claimed she deposited his checks in the account.

Although she didn't recall giving a previous statement at her entry of a guilty plea to the contrary, she did recall seeing Bond "cook" methamphetamine. But she never saw him sell any. (T. 149-150) Re-direct and re-cross indicated her inconsistencies as to whether she ever actually saw Bond "cook."

An expert from the Mississippi Crime lab confirmed the seized items were precursors and methamphetamine. (T. 159-173)

An officer with the Long Beach police transported Bond after his arrest and claimed that Bond stated he lived at Merinda Lane, but on cross examination. An objection to this critical evidence being based on guessing was sustained. The officer was then permitted to refresh his memory via a booking form. However, cross examination revealed to that this officer had not filled

out the booking form, and again an objection to the testimony was sustained, but not stricken as requested (T. 177)

The State rested and the trial court informed Bond of his rights under *Culberson*. (T. 178-179) The defense moved for a directed verdict on the issue of intent to distribute, arguing weight alone is insufficient evidence of intent. The court ruled that sufficient evince existed being weight baggies and scales. (T. 181)

The defense opened its case with Shannon Mercer who testified that at the time of the execution of the search warrant, Bond no longer lived at Merinda Lane, but instead was residing with Shannon Owens. He knew Bond's personal effects to be located at Owens. (T. 184-186)

On cross examination, the State tried to impeach Mercer with questions concerning why he had not previously told the police about Bond's residency at Owen's. An objection was overruled.(T. 186-187)

Jason Mills was also a casual friend of Bond who knew him to be living at Owen's home at the time of the raid. He testified that Bond's personal effects were at The room he had at Owen's residence. (T. 192-197)

Shannon Owen's confirmed the testimony of the prior witnesses. Bond had moved into a spare room of his at the time of the execution of the search warrant. Bond was not required to pay rent, but had helped with the power bill. The State also attempted to impeach Owen on his failure to come forward. He did not know why Bond would have been arrested, but did know the charge concerned a "meth lab." (T. 199-208)

Roland Bond exercised his right to testify on his own behalf. He told the jury he had a relationship with Cynthia Young, but he was breaking it off due to spending an unaccounted for \$6,000.00. (T. 210-213) He began to live at Owen's several nights a week until he had fully moved

in by October, 2004. He left the truck behind, letting Cynthia Young dive it and because it had been retrieved by Cynthia from a borrower of the truck. (T. 216)

On cross examination, Bond asserted his move in with Owen was completed in September of 2004, although he had some belongings remaining at Merinda Lane. (T. 224). He said he also spent time at his parent's home around the time of the raid. Bond denied making any statement's at his arrest concerning being coerced into cooking and denied knowing of the drugs or precursors.

Cynthia's father, William Donaldson, testified that he acquired the house, had it tested for hazardous materials and that none were found. On examination by the State, he explained he had done extensive work to the house and that he observed Bond move out various personal items after the date of the execution of the search warrant. (T. 237-242)

After the defense rested, the State put on certain rebuttal proofs concerning Bond's purported statement to Officer Brazil. Objection to using the prior statement was overruled since it had been denied by the defendant during his direct testimony. (T. 246-248)

The State then put on Dave Stepbro of the district attorneys office, who testified over objection, that Owen had not returned his call.

The motion for a directed verdict was denied. And the attorney's and trial court went over the proposed jury instructions. After a verdict of guilty, Bond was sentenced to two concurrent terms of fifteen years as an habitual offender. At the sentencing hearing, Bond testified the convictions arose out of the same incident; that the possession of stolen property was the property taken in the burglary. The trial court found to the contrary.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Quantity of a controlled substance, supported only by the presence of scales and baggies, is insufficient to prove the intent to distribute especially where the State's witness, a co-indictee,

testified that Bond was a user, but that she had never observed Appellant Bond sell methamphetamine.

The weight of the evidence did not support the verdict of possession with intent to distribute where the State's "star" witness testified contrary to Appellant Bond having sold methamphetamine and the evidence supporting sale was mere supposition that the relatively small quantity of methamphetamine, combined only with scales and baggies.

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND/OR DEFENDANT'S TENDERED PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE EVIDENCE BEING INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE INTENT TO TRANSFER OR DISTRIBUTE.

At the close of the trial, defendant both moved for a directed verdict (T. 255) and presented a jury instruction instructing the jury to find Bond not guilty of possession with intent. (C.P. 74) Bond then timely filed his "Motion For A New Trial, Or In The Alternative, To Find A Judgement Notwithstanding The Verdict." (C.P. 87) All were denied by the trial court.

The standard of review to be utilized in the denial of a motion for directed verdict or a motion for a judgement notwithstanding the verdict is:

this Court considers all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and gives the State the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence."

Parks v. State, 884 So.2d 738, 743-744 (Miss. 2004) However, the Court is required to reverse where, applying such a standard, reasonable men could not have arrived at a guilty verdict. Such is the instance herein.

Roland Vander Bond, along with Cynthia Young were indicted for the crimes of Possession of methamphetamine with the intent to distribute or transfer. The evidence adduced by the State were not only insufficient to support a junctuardict on the issue of intent, but such a verdict was

contradictory to the State's own proofs.

The only evidence of intent produced at trial was purely self contradictory opinion of a narcotics officer, with a stake in the outcome of the case. Allen Davis, ["Davis"], an officer with the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics, who was directly involved in the execution of the search warrant on Merinda Lane. He was qualified as an expert in the fields "methamphetamine labs and illegal narcotics activities." (T. 118) Davis collected the methamphetamine from the residence, which he testified weighed "an ounce." (T. 120) He went on to say such an amount was not, in his opinion. an amount consistent with personal use. He based that assumption on his opinion that a user uses between ½ to 1 gram per day. An ounce is deemed to weigh thirty grams. M.C.A § 41-29-139. Thus, according to Agent Davis' testimony, the amount of recovered methamphetamine constituted between 30 and 60 doses. It should the be recalled that this amount was possessed by two users and thus the amount of daily use should be cut in half, as it applies to Bond. That results in a personal supply of only 15 to 30 days. But, the amount used by Agent Dayis was an incorrect amount. The weight of the recovered methamphetamine, as testified to by the technician from the Mississippi Crime lab was a total of 24.44 grams, significantly less than an ounce. This would result in a total number of doses as a number between 24.44 and 48.88, again divided by two. This is merely an amount that would be a 12 day to 24 day supply for each user. Hardly an amount consistent with distribution versus an amount for personal use.

"Proof of possession with an intent to distribute or sell should not be based solely upon surmise or suspicion. There must be evidentiary facts which will rationally produce in the minds of jurors a certainty, a conviction beyond reasonable doubt that the defendant did in actual fact intend to distribute or sell the cocaine, not that he might have such intent. It must be evidence in which a reasonable jury can sink its teeth." *Stringfield v. State*, 588 So.2d 438, 440 (Miss. 1991) A fourteen

day supply in *Stringfield*, *Id.* did not constitute as amount that would presumptively imply an intent to distribute. Furthermore, as held in a long established line of cases, quantity that could reasonably be deemed an amount consistent with personal use cannot be presumed to be held for distribution, even when accompanied with scales and baggies. *Jones v. State*, 635 So. 2d 884, 889-890 (Miss. 1994), *Hollingsworth v. State*, 392 So. 2d 515, 517-518 (Miss. 1981),

A long line of cases also expresses the need for proofs that the confiscated quantity of controlled substance must be a "large" amount that is "far beyond" what would be usually deemed to be an amount for personal use. *Blissett v. State*, 754, So. 2d 1242, 1244-1245 (Miss. 2000)

More importantly, the key witness for the State, Cynthia Young the co-indictee and purportedly the co-resident of the Merinda Lane residence, not only did not testify to any intent to distribute, but she told the jury that she had never seen "Buddy" transfer or sell any methamphetamine. This contradicts any notion of transfer and relegates such a notion to mere suspicion of the police. The evidence only points to a mere suspicion of intent, which is insufficient to support this conviction. *Thomas v. State*, 591 So.2d 837, 839 (Miss. 1991). Normally, where the State is relying on such minimal evidence as a modest weight with baggies and scales, proof of prior sales or a current transfer, perhaps in a place where sales normally occur, is necessary. *Mitchell v. State*, 754 So. 2d 519 (Miss. App. 1999), *Boyd v. State*, 634 So. 2d 113 (Miss. 1994) No such evidence was adduced or even arguable. Again, the only evidence is to the contrary, Bond did not transfer methamphetamine.

Given the evidence herein, no reasonable juror should have found Bond guilty of possession with intent to distribute or transfer. Such evidence is contradicted by the proofs and not more than mere supposition or suspicion as it stands.

Accordingly, this Honorable Court should reverse and render Bond's conviction for possession with intent.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHERE THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF POSSESSION OF METHAMPHETAMINE WITH THE INTENT TO TRANSFER OR DISTRIBUTE.

Bond also argues that the verdict of possession of methamphetamine with intent to distribute was contrary to the weight of the evidence. Bond timely filed a motion for a new trial which was denied (C. P. 87-90, 96) A motion for a new trial goes to the weight of the evidence as decided by the jury. The standard of review is as follows:

Moreover, the challenge to the weight of the evidence via motion for a new trial implicates the trial court's sound discretion.

New trial decisions rest in the sound discretion of the trial court, and the motion should not be granted except to prevent an unconscionable injustice. We reverse only for abuse of discretion, and on review we accept as true all evidence favorable to the State.

McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993) As the evidence herein was overwhelmingly contrary to the issue of intent to distribute it is urged that this Honorable Court reverse and remand this case.

As set forth in the argument above, in Issue No. 1, which is adopted herein by reference, the proofs of this case simply do not support any intent to distribute. A review of the proofs and more importantly the absence of proofs, when theoretically placed on the balance scales of justice tilt conclusively to the conclusion that "the trial court abused its discretion and that a "miscarriage of justice would occur" if Bond is not granted a new trial. *Windham v. State*, 800 So. 2d 1257, 1264 Miss. App. 2001).

The State's case against Bond regarding the issue of intent relied upon solely upon the opinion evidence offered by Agent Davis, that the amount of methamphetamine, in combination with one scale and some baggies, indicated that Bond and Young possessed methamphetamine with the intention that it be transferred to others. As shown above this opinion was based upon an errant assumption as to the weight.

Counter balanced against such suppositional and minimal proofs were the following facts.

No sales or transactions were observed. "[T]he State's proof was unequivocal in establishing that no sale or attempted sale took place." *Stringer v. State*, 557 So.2d 796, 798 (Miss.1990)

While evidence of intent may be inferred by circumstantial evidence, such should not trump direct evidence in the State's case. Though the police had observed the residence at Merinda

Lane, no testimony was presented that any one had ever observed those things such as excess traffic that are associated with sale or distribution. *Jackson v. State*, 580 Sop. 2d 1217 (Miss. 1991)Bond did not "toss" the drugs nor run, he wasn't even there . *Edwards v. State*, 615 So. 2d 590, 595 (Miss. 1993) There was no cash offered into evidence. While the presence of cash can be an indicator of intent, it should be equally as convincing, that the absence of cash is evidence of personal usage. *Breckenridge v. State*, 472 So.2d 373 (Miss. 1985)

The State's evidence, in deciding a weight argument, must be accepted as true where it supports the verdict. *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So. 2d 731, 735 (Miss. 2005) Should any less standard be applied to the State's evidence which evinces the lack of intent? Appellant urges not.

Thus, the trial court abused it's discretion in denying Bond's motion for a new trial.

And this cause should be reversed and remanded.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully submits that for the reasons set forth above, this case should be reversed and rendered as to count one of the indictment, or in the alternative, this court should reverse and remand for a new trial.