IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONALD VANDER BOND, JR.

VS.

.

NO. 2008-KA-2152

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680 APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT
 THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE PRODUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF AN INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

.

STATE CASES

Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)
Edwards v. State, 795 So.2d 554 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297 (Miss. 1983)
Jenkins v. State, 757 So.2d 1005 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
May v. State, 460 So. 2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984)7
Mitchell v. State, 754 So.2d 519 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)10
Pearson v. State, 428 So. 2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983)

STATE STATUTES

Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-138 (Re	ev. 2005)	•••••	9
Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-139			

.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROLAND VANDER BOND, JR.

APPELLANT

vs.

CAUSE No. 2008-KA-02152-COA

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, wherein the Appellant was convicted of and sentenced for the crimes of **POSSESSION OF PRECURSORS** and **POSSESSION OF METHAMPHETAMINE WITH INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE**.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On 11 October 2004, law enforcement officers executed a search warrant on a residence located at 20016 Merinda Lane, Long Beach, Mississippi. At the time of the search, one Cynthia Young was present. However, the Appellant had been living there with her for a year and a half to two years prior to the search. One of the Appellant's vehicles was parked on the property, and a checkbook was found which bore Young's and his names. In the course of the search, quite a number of items used and useable in the manufacture of methamphetamine was found in the house and in the garage of the house. These items included modified coolers and gasoline cans, and a host of precursor materials including acetone, denatured alcohol, mineral spirits, camp fuel canisters, lithium batteries, and a large amount of pseudoephedrine. Receipts for additional precursor materials were found in a trash bin in the garage. Also found were tin foil, rubber tubing, a modified salt canister, and empty pseudoephedrine packs.

In addition to these items, a substance later determined to be methamphetamine was found in a work table and in a toolbox in the garage. Moreover, small zip-lock baggies were found, as well as two scales.

About two weeks prior to the search, the Appellant was stopped in his other vehicle. At that time he indicated that he was living at 20016 Merinda Lane. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 62 - 113).

A specialist in clandestine methamphetamine laboratories was called to testify, and he explained the process of manufacturing methamphetamine and the how the items found in the house were used in that process. He further testified that the quantity of methamphetamine found – 24.44 grams, or nearly an ounce -- indicated that it was not for personal consumption, stating that a person using methamphetamine would not likely consume more than half a gram to a gram of the substance a day. The scales also indicated an intent to distribute methamphetamine, as did the small baggies, which he said were commonly used by methamphetamine distributors. The methamphetamine, scales and baggies were all found in the same place. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 113 - 133).

Cynthia Young, the Appellant's romantic interest, testified that the Appellant had lived with her for a year to a year and a half prior to the search of her house. She maintained a joint checking account with the Appellant. The Appellant owned two vehicles and worked offshore.

He was not present when her house was searched, though one of his vehicles was. She admitted having been a methamphetamine addict, and stated that the methamphetamine found during the search of her house belonged to the Appellant and her. The Appellant and she purchased the precursors, knowing that they would be used to produce methamphetamine.

Young denied having relationship problems with the Appellant prior to the search, denied that the Appellant had begun staying at someone else's home before the search of her home occurred. She stated that she paid all of their bills through the joint checking account. She stated that the Appellant had deposited money to the account, or had given her money to deposit to the account.

Young stated that one David Hand actually "cooked" the methamphetamine, though she said that she had previously said during her plea colloquy that she thought the Appellant was "cooking" the drug. She also said that the Appellant did not know how to manufacture the drug and that either he was helping Hand or Hand was helping him. She did not see the Appellant sell any of it. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 136 - 154; Vol. 3, pp. 155 - 159).

A forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory testified that the substances found in the Appellant's tool box was methamphetamine. The total weight was 24.44 grams. The scientist went on to testify as to his finding concerning the other substances found in the course of the search, which included acetone, denatured alcohol, mineral spirits, ammonium nitrate, and hundreds of pseudoephedrine tablets found. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 159 - 173).

The defense produced a case - in - chief. His first witness was one Shannon Mercer, who testified that the Appellant was staying in a Shannon Owen's residence. Mercer said he knew this because the Appellant had personal effects there. Mercer claimed that he visited the Appellant around or just after 21 September 2004. Mercer spent a lot more time the Appellant

after the Appellant was arrested, and knew a great deal about the case against the Appellant. However, he never took it upon himself to inform law enforcement of his belief that the Appellant was living at Owen's residence prior to the search of Young's house. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 183 - 191).

A Jason Mills testified that he knew the Appellant and had visited him at Young's house and also at Owen's residence around late October and early November of 2004. He was of the opinion that the Appellant was residing with Owen since he observed the Appellant's personal effects there. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 192 - 198).

Shannon Owen then testified. He said he knew the Appellant, that the Appellant had been living in Merinda Lane, and that the Appellant began living with him in mid - September of 2004. The Appellant moved his "stuff" in. The Appellant was said to have stayed there until Christmas of that year. The Appellant was said to have been staying with Owen on 11 October 2004.

Owen stated that he knew what the Appellant was charged with having done, but he did not know why the Appellant was "pulled over." Like the others, this witness never contacted law enforcement to relate this information, but he also stated that he was never contacted. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 198 - 209).

The Appellant testified. He stated that he had moved in with Young in early 2004. He said that Young and he opened a checking account together in order to establish their credit, and that he deposited insurance proceeds from an accident claim in that account. However, according to the Appellant, some \$6,000.00 came up missing from the account, and Young had no explanation as to what happened to those funds. So, the Appellant said, he withdrew his money and never deposited money to the account again. The Appellant said he then began gradually

moving out of Young's house and began living with Owen. He moved out completely by mid -September, 2004 and spent no nights with Young in October, 2004. Young had a set of keys to the Appellant's truck and drove it sometimes. According to the Appellant, the reason his truck was at the Young's house when her house was searched was because some friend had borrowed the truck. Young went to Gautier to pick it up.

The Appellant knew David Hand. He thought Young's change in appearance had something to do with her association with Hand. The Appellant denied having any knowledge about the precursors in Young's house, and, of course, he denied any knowledge of the methamphetamine in the garage. He denied having used methamphetamine.

On cross-examination, the Appellant admitted that there were personal items of his at Young's house at the time of and after the search. The Appellant denied having a recollection of certain statements he made after his arrest. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 210 - 237).

The defense then called one William Donaldson, father of Cynthia Young. He testified that he came into title of Young's house after the execution of the search warrant, and had the house sanitized. He sold the house after it was determined that there were no "problems" with the house. Donaldson testified that he removed everything left in the house, including the carpets, and used a strong solution to wash down every surface within the house. He left the doors to the garage open "for weeks and weeks and weeks" to get a smell out of it. He then repainted the surfaces within the house and had the house tested.

After the warrant had been executed, the Appellant got in touch with Donaldson to request that he be allowed to remove his personal possessions from the house, a request that was granted. Among those items of personal property were clothing, shaving implements, and a large number of tools located in the garage. The Appellant filled his mother's van and his father's

pick'em up with his personal possessions. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 237 - 243).

In rebuttal, the State re-called Officer Kevin Brazil. He stated that the Appellant was arrested on 18 October 2004. After the arrest, the Appellant was given his rights and he waived same. In this statement, the Appellant denied involvement in the manufacture of methamphetamine and said that anything found at the house or in his truck must have been placed there by other people. He stated that other people had come to him and coerced him into using the house and his truck for making methamphetamine and distributing methamphetamine. He said these other people were brandishing guns. At the time of the statement, the Appellant gave as his address the address on Merinda Lane. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 244 - 250).

An investigator with the district attorney's office, David Stepbro, testified that he attempted to contact Shannon Owen prior to trial to determine what Owen's testimony would be. Owen never returned his call. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 250 - 253)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AND PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ISSUE OF INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE?

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR, ALTERNATIVELY, FOR J.N.O.V., ON THE ISSUE OF INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE PRODUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF AN INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND RENEWED MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT (J.N.O.V.) ON THE ISSUE OF INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE PRODUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF AN INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE

The Appellant, at the close of evidence, moved for a directed verdict and tendered a peremptory jury instruction for a directed verdict on the issue of intent to distribute; both were denied by the court.

In considering a motion for directed verdict or a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, "the trial court must consider all of the evidence - not just the evidence which supports the State's case - in the light most favorable to the State. The State must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *May v. State*, 460 So. 2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984). After a jury has returned a verdict of guilty, this Court has no authority to disturb the verdict absent a conclusion that "given the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty." *Pearson v. State*, 428 So. 2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983).

The Appellant asserts that the State's evidence of intent to distribute methamphetamine was insufficient to permit the jury to find him guilty of possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine. However, we do not find that he challenges the sufficiency of the evidence as to possession of precursors or as to possession of methamphetamine, as opposed to possession with intent to distribute. This being so, we find it unnecessary to discuss the evidence in support of the precursors charge and the evidence in support of possession. It is sufficient to note that the State clearly and overwhelmingly established the presence of precursors throughout the house occupied by the Appellant and Young, and that methamphetamine was found in a toolbox belonging to the Appellant in the garage of that house. While the Appellant attempted to say that he knew nothing about the presence of these substances, he also appeared to claim knowledge people brandishing guns were using the house and truck to manufacture methamphetamine. In any event, Young clearly testified as to his participation and knowledge. That evidence, taken as true, was surely sufficient to permit the jury to consider the case.

As to the issue of whether the State produced sufficient evidence on the element of intent to distribute, the evidence was that there was a large quantity of methamphetamine found, along with scales and a particular kind of baggie that was commonly used to package the substance for sale. There was also testimony that users of methamphetamine would use no more than a gram a day, due to the toll the drug takes on the body. The amount found was a twenty - five to forty eight-day supply. In conjunction with this evidence was the evidence of a large amount of materials used and useful in the manufacture of methamphetamine.

This Court has found that a large quantity of methamphetamine and a set of scales is sufficient evidence to permit a jury to consider an accused's guilt for possession with intent to distribute. *Edwards v. State*, 795 So.2d 554 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The Court has also found that even where there is only a small amount of contraband found, intent to distribute may be shown by the fact that objects used in the production and sale of contraband were present. *Jenkins v. State*, 757 So.2d 1005 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). Because there was a large amount of methamphetamine found, together with objects used in manufacturing and selling the substance, the evidence was sufficient to permit the jury to pass on the question of the Appellant's guilt for possession of methamphetamine with the intent to distribute it.

The Appellant, though, asserts that the amount of contraband found was entirely consistent with the personal use requirements of two users. The problem for the Appellant,

assuming that the time period he claims is consistent with personal use, is that the Appellant testified that he never used methamphetamine with Young. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 219). Now, while it may be that Young testified that he did use methamphetamine, there was no testimony as to her's – of his – rate of usage. The Appellant's argument on this point is entirely speculative, and it assumes that Young and the Appellant were daily users of the drug and that they used the maximum amount each day.

The Appellant claims that the clandestine laboratory expert gave conflicting testimony as to the amount of methamphetamine found and how much of a daily supply it would have provided.

First of all, the Appellant, citing Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-139, asserts that "[a]n ounce is deemed to weigh thirty grams." The expert, however, testified that an ounce weighed 28 grams. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 121). Under Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-138 (Rev. 2005), the avoirdupois system of weights is to be the system by which weights of controlled substances are to be determined for purposes of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. An avoirdupois ounce weighs 28.3495231 grams. *Roach v. State*, 7 So.3rd 911, 914 fn. 5 (Miss. 2009), or, rounded to the fourth digit, 28.35 grams. It is not thirty grams, as asserted by the Appellant, and we have found nowhere in Section 41-29-139 anything to support his claim. Twenty - four grams (the weight of the methamphetamine found in the search was 24.44 grams) is a twenty - four day supply for a one gram a day man; a forty - eight day supply for a man using half that amount a day. In either case, a large amount. That the Appellant would have this Court assume that Young and the Appellant (1) both used methamphetamine; (2) used it daily; and (3) used the same amount daily is no evidence that the expert gave contradictory testimony. The expert never testified that this was so. It is merely the Appellant who says his speculations are somehow why

the expert gave supposedly conflicting testimony.

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